
 

 

 

 
Meeting: Planning Committee (South) 

Date: Wednesday 22nd November, 2023 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber, Swanspool House, Doddington Road, Wellingborough, 
NN8 1BP 

 
To members of the Planning Committee (South) 
 
Councillor Jennie Bone (Chair), Councillor Lee Wilkes (Vice-Chair), Councillor Melanie 
Coleman, Councillor Scott Brown, Councillor Kirk Harrison, Councillor Philip Irwin, 
Councillor Bert Jackson, Councillor Barbara Jenney, Councillor Lora Lawman, Councillor 
Andy Mercer, Councillor Gill Mercer, Councillor Steven North and Councillor Malcolm Ward 
 
(Substitutes:  Cllrs Allebone, Carr, Ekins, Harrington, Levell, Maxwell, Powell, Tye, Waters 
and Weatherill). 
 

Agenda 
Item Subject Presenting 

Officer 
Page no. 

 
01   Apologies for non-attendance 

 
  

 
02   Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2023 

 
 5 - 16 

 
03   Members' Declarations of Interests 

 
  

 
Items requiring a decision  

04   Application Number NE/22/00234/FUL - 
Chelveston Energy Innovation Park 

Paul Bland 
Planning 
Officer 

17 - 40 

 
Urgent Item  

05   To consider any items of business that the chair 
considers to be urgent pursuant to the LGA 1972 
 

  

 
06   Close of Meeting 

 
  

 
Adele Wylie, Monitoring Officer 

North Northamptonshire Council 

 
Proper Officer 

Tuesday 14 November 2023 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

*The reports on this agenda include summaries of representations that have been received 
in response to consultation under the Planning Acts and in accordance with the provisions 
in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015.   
 
This agenda has been published by Democratic Services. 
Committee Administrator: Carol Mundy 
 01933 231 521  
 Carol.Mundy@northnorthants.gov.uk   
 
Meetings at the Council Offices 
Where there is a need for the Council to discuss exempt or confidential business, the press 
and public will be excluded from those parts of the meeting only and will have to vacate the 
room for the duration of that business. 
 
Public Participation 
The Council has approved procedures for you to request to address meetings of the 
Council. 
 
ITEM NARRATIVE DEADLINE 
Members of 
the Public 
Agenda 
Statements 

Requests to address the committee must be received by 12 Noon on the 
day before the meeting.  Speakers will be limited to speak for 3 minutes. 
 

12 Noon 
Tuesday  
21 November 
2023 

Member 
Agenda 
Statements 

A request from a Ward Councillor must be received by 12 Noon on the 
day before the meeting.  The Member will be limited to speak for 5 
minutes. 

12 Noon 
Tuesday  
21 November 
2023 

 
Please see the procedures for speaking at the Planning Committee before registering to 
speak. If you wish to register to speak, please contact the committee administrator 
 
Press & Media Enquiries 
Any press or media enquiries should be directed through the Council’s Communications 
Team to NNU-Comms-Team@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
Public Enquiries 
Public enquiries regarding the Authority’s  meetings can be made to 
democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Page 2

https://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/councillors-and-democracy/speaking-planning-committees
mailto:democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk


 

Members’ Declarations of Interest 
 
Members are reminded of their duty to ensure they abide by the approved Member Code 
of Conduct whilst undertaking their role as a Councillor.  Where a matter arises at a 
meeting which relates to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, you must declare the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to other Registerable Interests, you 
must declare the interest.  You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but must not take part in any vote on the matter 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to your own financial interest (and is not 
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or relates to a financial interest of a relative, friend or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest and not vote on the matter unless granted 
a dispensation.  You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that they should continue to adhere to the Council’s approved 
rules and protocols during the conduct of meetings.  These are contained in the Council’s 
approved Constitution. 
 
If Members have any queries as to whether a Declaration of Interest should be made 
please contact the Monitoring Officer at –  monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Page 3

mailto:monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee (South) held at 7pm on 
Wednesday 18th October, 2023, in the Council Chamber, Swanspool House, 
Doddington Road, Wellingborough, NN8 1BP 
 
Present:- 
Members 
Councillor Jennie Bone (Chair) Councillor Lee Wilkes 
Councillor Scott Brown 
Councillor Kirk Harrison 
Councillor Philip Irwin 
 

Councillor Bert Jackson 
Councillor Lora Lawman 
Councillor Malcolm Ward 

(Councillor Jonathan Ekins also attended in his capacity as a substitute member) 
 
Officers 
Troy Healy, Principal Planning Manager 
Erika Davies, Assistant Development Officer  
William Tysterman, Principal Development Management Officer (Consultant) 
Sunny Bains, Principal Development Management Officer 
Carol Mundy, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Committees/Members) 
Emma Robinson, Democratic Services Support Officer 
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and explained how the meeting would 
proceed.  
 

27 Apologies for non-attendance  
 
Apologies for non-attendance were received from Councillors Coleman, Jenney, A 
Mercer, G Mercer and North.  
  
It was noted that Councillor Ekins was present as a substitute.  

28 Minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2023  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2023 be approved 
and signed as an accurate record of that meeting.  
 

29 Members' Declarations of Interests  
 
The chair invited those who wished to do so to declare any interests in respect of an 
item on the agenda.  
  
Councillor  Application  Nature of Interest  DPI  Other Interest 
Wilkes  20/00745/FUL 

Land North of 
Raunds  

Sits on the planning 
committee of Raunds 
Town Council  

  Yes 

 
The following informal site visits were declared: 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Councillors Bone and Jackson had attended all three sites as detailed on the agenda.  
  
The chair informed the committee she was going to take agenda item 6 - 
NE/23/00900/FUL - 13 Church Street, Woodford first. 
  

30 NE/23/00900/FUL - 13 Church Street, Woodford, Kettering, NN14 4EX - 
Demolition of existing single storey flat rood extension and its replacement with 
a new single storey extension  
 
The committee considered an application for the demolition of an existing single storey 
flat roof extension and its replacement with a new single storey flat extension at 13 
Church Street, Woodford. 
  
Assistant Development Officer, Erika Davies, presented the report, explaining the 
reason why it had come before the committee and detailing the proposal, description 
of the site, the planning history, relevant planning policies, outcome of consultations 
and an assessment of the proposal, providing full and comprehensive details.  
  
It was recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the conditions set 
out in the committee report.  
  
The chair invited the committee to determine the application.  
  
It was proposed by Councillor Ekins and seconded by Councillor Lawman that 
permission be granted, subject to the conditions set out in the report.  
  
On being put to the vote, the motion for approval was declared carried. 
  
Resolved that planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions within the 
report.  
  

31 NE/22/00851/OUT - Land East of A6 roundabout at Bedford Road, Rushden, 
Northants  
 
The committee considered an application for outline planning permission, for the 
erection of up to 450 dwellings, a community/retail/and or health facility, improvement 
works to the existing A6/Bedford Road roundabout including provision of shared 
pedestrian/cycle access, parking, landscaping, drainage features, open space and 
associated infrastructure (all matters reserved except access from the A6/Bedford 
Road.  
  
Principal Development Management Officer (Consultant), William Tysterman, 
presented the report to the committee, which detailed the proposal, description of the 
site, the planning history, relevant planning policies, outcome of consultations and an 
assessment of the proposal, providing full and comprehensive details.  
  
It was recommended that the planning application be approved subject to officers 
agreeing a final Early Years Education contribution and the prior completion of a 
Section 106 obligation relating to affordable housing, provision of open space, 
highway improvements, education, air quality, education sports contributions and 
subject to conditions to include those listed in the report, with minor alternations where 
necessary being delegated to officers.  
  

Page 6



A request to address the meeting had been received from Mr Cooke of Marrons 
Planning, the agent for the applicant, the committee was given the opportunity to ask 
questions for clarification.  
 
Mr Cooke spoke in favour of the application which had been put together responsibly, 
with consideration being given to sustainability and biodiversity.  Provision was 
included for safe pedestrian and cycling options within the site. A positive response 
had been received from consultees.  If approved, work would continue to the detailed 
design stage.  
  
Councillor Ekins referenced the provision of affordable units and asked if 25% of the 
homes would remain in place as affordable.  Mr Cooke responded to confirm that they 
were committed to provide affordable homes, which would be secured through the 
Section 106 agreement.  
  
The chair invited the committee to determine the application.  
  
During the debate the following points were made: 
  

       Comment that this appeared to be a good development with several affordable 
units, which were needed. 

       Section 106 funding would ensure there was Sports and Medical provision and 
good wheelchair access.  

       Comments were made about access to the site during construction and the 
need for such to be carefully managed with a second entrance being essential 
for the safe movement of construction traffic and eventually residential traffic.  

       Concern was expressed regarding the roundabout and the need for 
improvements to be made thereto.  

       Concerns were also expressed about the access size during development, and 
potential disruption due to vehicle movements. Officers clarified that highways 
had confirmed the access was wide enough and was acceptable.  

      A comment was made that the highway speed limit was believed to be 60mph 
and this was considered to be too fast.   Officers  confirmed that the speed limit 
leading to the site was 40mph.  The committee considered this would benefit 
from being further reduced. 

  
It was proposed by Councillor Ekins and seconded by Councillor Wilkes that the 
application be approved subject to officers agreeing a final Early Years Education 
contribution and the prior completion of a Section 106 obligation relating to affordable 
housing, provision of open space, highway improvements, education, air quality, 
education sports contributions and subject to conditions as detailed in the report, with 
minor alterations, where necessary, being delegated to officers.  
  
On being put to the vote the motion was declared carried.  
  
Resolved that outline planning permission be granted, subject to officers agreeing a 
final Early Years Education contribution. and the prior completion of a Section 106 
obligation relating to affordable housing, provision of open space, highway 
improvements, education, air quality, education sports contributions and subject to the 
conditions as detailed in the report, with minor alterations, where necessary, being 
delegated to officers.  
 

Page 7



32 20/00745/FUL - Land North of Raunds fronting Brick Kiln Road, North Street, 
Brooks Road and Midland Road, Raunds, Northants  
 
The committee considered an application for the erection of a 76-bedroom care home 
(C2) with associated amenity areas, eight care home staff apartments, access road 
and car parking spaces on land North of Raunds, fronting Brick Kiln Road, North 
Street, Brooks Road and Midland Road, Raunds, Northamptonshire.  
  
The Principal Development Management Officer, Sunny Bains, presented the report to 
committee, which detailed the proposal, description of the site, the planning history, 
relevant planning policies, outcome of consultations and an assessment of the 
proposal, providing full and comprehensive details.  
  
It was recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions and 
the completion of a Section 106 legal Agreement.  
  
Requests to address the meeting had been received from David Hicks of Country 
Court Care, the agent and Bill Cross from Raunds Town Council. The committee was 
given the opportunity to ask questions for clarification.  
  
Mr Hicks spoke in favour of the application. He explained, in summary, that the 
proposed build was bespoke and that there was a need for this type of facility with the 
ageing population. The building would comprise 76 bedrooms over three floors, along 
with staff accommodation and good quality materials would be used in the build. In 
addition to the bedrooms, there would be a reception area, day space, a dining room 
and kitchen along with parking facilities which would accommodate visitors and those 
working on the site.  
  
Mr Cross spoke, in summary, and shared his concerns over the proposed 
development, considering this to be detrimental to the location. He expressed concern 
over the access to the site and the poor location of the entrance, the future strain on 
the health care service with the GP Surgery having insufficient capacity to take on any 
further patients, and the fact that the site was also prone to flooding. He was also 
concerned that there was insufficient parking on the site and that public transport was 
limited with the nearest bus stop being 200metres from the site and he considered that 
this proposal did not best serve the community. 
  
The chair invited the committee to determine the application.  
  
During the debate, the following points were made: 
  

       In relation to the NHS capacity a financial contribution of £15,900 had been 
sought from the Clinical Commissioning Group and a question was asked as to 
how this figure had been put in place. The officer explained that this had been 
an estimate of the required support to ensure the new population had access 
to good quality primary health care services.    

       The legal officer advised that a Section 106 contribution could only be used for 
the purpose of infrastructure.  An additional surgery would be funded from 
general taxation.  

       It was noted that this was a care home and not a nursing home, and residents 
who needed medical attention would potentially be transferred to hospital.  

Page 8



       Parking concerns were raised as there was no alternative place to park. The 
officer clarified that intensive studies had indicated that there would be no 
impact on the road network.  

  
It was proposed by Councillor Wilkes and seconded by Councillor Brown that planning 
permission be granted subject to the conditions contained within the report. 
  
On being put to the vote the motion was declared carried with six votes in favour and 
two abstentions.  
  
Resolved that: 
 
(i)   planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions contained within the   

report, and the completion of a Section 106 legal agreement by a date to be 
agreed; 

(ii)   Should the Section 106 legal agreement not be completed by a date to be 
agreed then it be delegated to the Director of Place and Economy to refuse 
the planning permission.  

  
33  Close of Meeting  

 
The chair thanked the committee, officers and public for their attendance and closed 
the meeting at 7.59pm.  
  
  
                                                            Chair……………………………………….. 
  
  
                                                            Date………………………………………… 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



                                     
 
 
 

North Northamptonshire Planning Committee (South) 
22nd November 2023 

 

 
Scheme of Delegation 
 
This application is brought before the Planning Committee (South Area) because it 
falls outside of the Council’s Scheme of Delegation.  This is because the Council has 
received more than 10 objections from members of the public and from local Town and 
Parish Councils.  
 
1. Recommendation 
 
1.1 That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions. 

 
2. The Proposal 
 
2.1  This planning application is for ‘Full’ planning permission for a re-positioned 

main vehicular access route to serve the approved Chelveston Energy 
Innovation Park (CEIP), and a new security gatehouse along the proposed 
new route.  The proposed new route is accessed from Church Lane, 
approximately 100 metres from the junction with the main highway at 
Rushden Road / Bidwell Lane.  The proposal includes highway improvement 
works to Church Lane, and also to the right-turn junction from Rushden Road 
/ Bidwell Lane.  The development area required to create the new access, 
gatehouse and internal access road is 0.9 hectares. 

Application 
Reference 

NE/22/00234/FUL 

Case Officer Paul Bland 

Location Chelveston Energy Innovation Park 

Development Replacement and improvements to existing site access 
with a new site access road and gatehouse 

Applicant Federal Estates Ltd 

Agent Savills UK  

Ward Higham Ferrers 

Original Expiry 
Date 

25th April 2022 

Agreed Extension 
of Time 

30th November 2023 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



  
 

 
 Site Plan – new access route shown in red 
  
 

 
 Plan showing new site access route proposals 
  

Page 12



2.2 The proposal has three main aims:  
 
• To create a more efficient and higher quality dedicated ‘business park’ 

style main vehicular access route to serve the approved CEIP site.  
• To separate vehicular movements related to the approved CEIP site from 

the existing vehicular movements related to the adjoining operational 
Chelveston Renewable Energy Park (CREP) site.  Traffic destined for the 
CEIP site would take a priority left-turn from Church Lane into the CEIP 
site; whilst traffic destined for the CREP site would continue along the 
existing Church Lane route, turning left further along at its end and onto 
the existing concrete access road which leads to the CREP facilities.  

• To improve the safety of users of the Public Rights of Way (PROW) 
network accessed from Church Lane by reducing pedestrian conflicts with 
CEIP site traffic as the site develops and becomes established over time. 

  
2.3 The currently approved route leading to the existing approved CEIP site 

vehicular access is shared by the CEIP and CREP traffic.  It is in a more 
distant location, reached by travelling along the length of Church Lane and 
turning onto the concrete access road to the main CREP site.   

  
2.4 The purpose of the proposed new gatehouse and barriers sited along the 

new access route leading from the new site entrance is to provide welcome, 
orientation, and site security for employees, visitors and businesses. 

  
 

 
 Site Plan showing new access route in context of wider CEIP site 

Page 13



  
2.5 The following documents and plans have been submitted as part of the 

application:  
 
• Site Access Proposed Entrance Sheet 1 Aerial View (Drawing Number 

FEL1296-A, 25th May 2021) 
• Site Access Proposed Entrance Sheet 1 Site Plan (Drawing Number 

FEL1296-A, 25th May 2021) 
• Site Access Proposed Entrance Sheet 2 (Drawing Number FEL1296-B, 

25th May 2021) 
• Site Access Proposals (Drawing Number Figure 5.7-F, 20th June 2019) 
• Proposed Gatehouse Floorplan and Elevations (Drawing Number 

FEL1327-A, 31st August 2021) 
• Traffic Noise Assessment (Hayes McKenzie, 21st April 2023) 
• Design and Access Statement (Savills, February 2022) 

  
 Background to the CEIP and CREP Sites 
  
2.6 Planning permission for the CEIP site was approved by the former East 

Northamptonshire Council’s Planning Management Committee on 30th 
March 2021 (ref: 19/01781/FUL).   

  
2.7 The approved CEIP site is being developed to provide a range of highly 

sustainable employment floorspace with a ‘unique selling point’ of direct 
access to industrial scale power, in the form of renewable electricity delivered 
via a direct feed from the large-scale renewable energy generating facilities 
at the adjacent CREP site.  The target business market for the CEIP site is 
energy intensive end-users. 

  
2.8 The principle of development at the CEIP site is established, and 

implementation of the approved plans has commenced.  Site layout, 
landscaping and SUDS infrastructure has been implemented, and a large 
new business unit has been constructed as the first phase of employment 
development on site.  In granting the original CEIP site planning permission, 
full consideration was given to a wide range of potential local and 
environmental impacts, balanced with its economic development and 
sustainability benefits. 

  
2.9 The CEIP site planning permission was part of a hybrid planning application, 

comprising:  
 
• Full permission for a sustainable residential development of 120 dwellings 

redeveloping a separate existing industrial site in the ownership of the 
applicant at Higham Ferrers.  (Note: this is a separate site which is not 
directly relevant to the current planning application under consideration). 

• A combination of Full and Outline permissions for the phased 
development of a range of B1 / B2 / B8 employment buildings and 
ancillary uses with high sustainability credentials in a landscaped 
business-park setting to create the CEIP site.  This enables the 
development of 32,900 square metres of commercial floorspace. (Note: 
this is the CEIP site, to which the current planning application relates). 

  

Page 14



2.10 Both the CEIP site and the CREP site are located on the former RAF 
Chelveston Airfield.  The airfield was in continued military use from 1941 to 
1977, and the site was then used as a military signals station until its demise 
in 2003 and subsequent disposal by the Ministry of Defence in 2005 (when it 
was purchased by the applicant). 

  
2.11 The CREP site extends across the administrative boundaries of North 

Northamptonshire and Bedford Borough Council.  However, the CEIP site is 
entirely within North Northamptonshire. 

  
2.12 The applicant has developed the CREP site in phases since 2007, to create 

what is currently one of the UK’s largest mainland renewable energy 
production facilities.  It comprises a combination of renewable energy 
technologies including wind turbines, solar panel arrays, an anaerobic 
digestion building, a battery storage building, and ancillary buildings and 
infrastructure for switchgear, inverters and transformers, and the 
manufacture of solar panel equipment.  Other permissions are in place for a 
biofuel plant and fuel storage tanks, a gas-powered electricity generating 
back-up facility, a hydrogen plant, and other ancillary buildings. 

  
2.13 Renewable electricity generated at the CREP site is primarily exported into 

the National Grid.  The efficiency and scale of the technologies on-site means 
that, increasingly, more renewable electricity is generated than can be 
accommodated by the National Grid. 

  
2.14 Therefore, the applicant has secured a range of permissions to implement 

technologies on site to enable excess renewable energy to be stored (in 
batteries) and used for fuel production (hydrogen) to support peak national 
demand and be available for use by other energy intensive end-users (at the 
approved CEIP site) and potentially in the future also for other off-site users. 

 
3. Site Description 
 
3.1  The approved CEIP site is located in the south-western corner of the former 

RAF Chelveston Airfield.  It is adjacent to the CREP site to the east and 
north.  Agricultural fields lie to the west and south. 

  
3.2 In terms of proximity to its nearest settlements, the CEIP site is: 

 
• Adjacent to east of the former military, now privately owned, housing 

estate at Chelston Rise. 
• Approximately 1.3 kilometres south-east of Caldecott village. 
• Approximately 1.7 kilometres north of Newton Bromswold village. 
• Approximately 1.5 kilometres north-west of Yelden village. 
• Approximately 3.0 kilometres east of the towns of Higham Ferrers and 

Rushden. 
  
3.3 The CEIP site is within Higham Ferrers Ward, and Chelveston-cum-

Caldecott Parish, and is wholly within North Northamptonshire’s 
administrative area. 

  
3.4 Vehicular access to both the CEIP and CREP sites is via the adopted Church 

Lane, to the south of the CEIP site.  Church Lane forks off to the south-east 
Page 15



from the adopted Rushden Road / Bidwell Lane main highway, south-east 
of the Chelston Rise residential estate. 

  
3.5 In terms of the PROW network, Bridleway MM14 runs along Church Lane, 

connecting with Yelden to the south-east.  It also connects, at a north-
western facing right-angle, with Bridleway MM18 which runs along the 
eastern boundary of the CEIP site beside the main concrete access road for 
the CREP site which has been created from part of the former airfield taxi-
way.   

  
3.6 Other Public Rights of Way ‘criss-cross’ the CREP site via the concrete 

access road, and there is a public footpath immediately to the north of the 
CEIP site which connects to the north-west with Caldecott village. 

  
3.7 The concrete access road is the main vehicular access for the CREP site, 

and along it is the existing approved main vehicular entrance into the north-
western part of the CEIP site.   

  
3.8 The nearest residential properties are at Chelston Rise, the former military 

housing estate that was associated with the operational airfield, and which 
has since been sold to private occupiers.  The nearest houses to the 
proposed new access to the CEIP site are some 100 metres away. 

  
3.9 The land upon which the proposed new access route will be situated is 

essentially brown-field land as it was previously developed extensively with 
military buildings and infrastructure associated with its long-term use by the 
Royal Air Force and the United States Air Force.  Whilst the former military 
buildings which were in close proximity to the Chelston Rise residential 
estate have been cleared, the proposed new CEIP site main access route 
has been designed to follow a previous military access route into the base 
which remains as grassed-over concrete. 

 
4. Relevant Planning History 
 
4.1  19/01781/FUL: Approved by East Northamptonshire Council Planning 

Management Committee – 30th March 2021 
  
 Hybrid application comprising: 

 
• Site 1: Full planning permission sought for Federal Estates land off 

Newton Road, Higham Ferrers: demolition of industrial buildings and 
redevelopment to create 120 dwellings with highway works, battery 
storage area, landscaping, acoustic fencing and bunding. (Note: Site 1 is 
a separate site, within the town of Higham Ferrers, and so is not relevant 
to the current planning application under consideration). 

• Site 2: Outline planning permission with all matters reserved except 
access sought for a phased development of land at the Chelveston 
Renewable Energy Park with: (2a) 10,000sqm of replacement 
employment space - six buildings in B2/B8 Use Class - and a 4,900sqm 
building for vertical farming in horticultural/agricultural use with highway 
works, and landscaping (Full planning permission); and (2b) 
Development of up to 18,000sqm of employment space - B1/B2/B8 Use 
Classes - with a maximum of 2,000sqm of B1 Use - and provision of a 

Page 16



primary substation. (Note: Site 2 is the relevant planning history for the 
current planning application under consideration, as it established the 
CEIP, adjacent to the CREP). 

  
4.2 NE/22/00844/CND: Pending Consideration  
  
 Discharge of conditions pursuant to 19/01781/FUL (as per the hybrid 

planning application referred to in paragraph 4.1 above). 
 
5. Consultation Responses 
 

A full copy of all comments received can be found on the Council’s website  
 

 Ward Councillor Responses 
  
5.1 Higham Ferrers Ward Councillor (30th March 2022)  

 
A Ward Councillor has responded to highlight the objections (as opposed to 
making an objection) made by local residents to this application, particularly 
in relation to highway, noise and fume pollution impacts: 
 
• The original CEIP proposals (19/01781/FUL) and the current planning 

application’s potentially increased HGV impacts on Chelston Rise 
residents contravene Chelveston-cum-Caldecott Neighbourhood 
Development Plan Policy REN 1 regarding resisting of development in 
this location “… to minimise the cumulative impact on the rural 
landscape". 

• Impacts of cars and HGVs queueing and backing onto the adopted 
highway. 

• The approved access point for the original CEIP approval 
(19/01781/FUL) provides greater ability to contend with potential 
tailbacks / queues, especially with HGVs, because there is more capacity 
in the original 400 metre long access route. 

• Noise disturbance is likely to increase because of the closer proximity of 
the new access to the houses at Chelston Rise (100 metres away) and 
the landscaped bund is unlikely to mitigate the noise impacts arising from 
the full development of the site. 

• Potential 24 hour operation of the CEIP site could be implemented, giving 
rise to concerns by residents about noise impacts on what remains a 
rural settlement away from main roads.  

• Fumes from HGVs and vehicles which may be idling at the proposed 
gatehouse (100 metres away) could be carried by the wind, further 
affecting the residents of Chelston Rise. 

• Enhancement and protection of public rights of way along the former 
airstrip is welcomed but the original CEIP site permission secured that. 

  
 Parish / Town Councils 
  
5.2 Chelveston-cum-Caldecott Parish Council (5th May 2022) 

 
The Parish Council objects to this application as follows: 
 

Page 17



• General Amenity: Will the proposed new vehicular access cause a 
greater nuisance to the amenity of the residents of Chelston Rise than 
the existing approved access?    

• Noise: Will the existing approved landscape bund provide sufficient noise 
attenuation from the proposed new vehicular access, which is closer to 
Chelston Rise than the approved access by some 300 metres?  Could 
the height of the approved landscape bund be increased above the level 
of the first-floor bedroom windows of the houses that back onto the CEIP 
to reduce potential noise impacts?  If not, the original approved CEIP 
access should be used to ensure that Chelston Rise residents are not 
impacted by additional traffic noise from the CEIP. 

• Impact of queuing: Will the proposed new gatehouse promote car and 
HGV vehicle queuing beyond the access point and along Church Lane 
and potentially onto the adopted highway at peak times? 

• Refusal Request: Refuse application to ensure CEIP traffic continues to 
use approved site access further away from Chelston Rise.   

• Suggested Refusal Reasons: Increased noise impact on Chelston Rise, 
particularly at night; and obstruction hazard to other road users through 
queues extending back onto the Caldecott / Newton Bromswold road. 

• Suggested Site Access Closure Condition if Permission Granted: “The 
new site access road is to be closed to all traffic between 23:00 to 07:00. 
Reason: To minimise the noise nuisance whilst nearby residents are 
sleeping.  If the applicant wishes to operate 24 hour access, then all 
traffic should be diverted to the existing site access route between 23:00 
– 07:00”. 

  
5.3 Further Chelveston-cum-Caldecott Parish Council (5th May 2022) 

 
The Parish Council responded further to this application, as follows: 
 
• If one allows a little leeway and rounds this worst case figure of 8 HGV 

movements per In parallel with the above, because Hayes Mackenzie 
have identified issues with modelling low numbers of vehicle movements 
(para 5.2 states the highest peak hour traffic flows for the site access 
roads are less than 200 and for this reason, combined with the number 
of junctions that need to be taken into account, it has been decided that 
it would not be appropriate to model the traffic noise using CRTN and 
that a more bespoke modelling technique would be required), this 
Council requests a further planning condition (should NNC be minded to 
grant the application) to be implemented once the access road is in use 
up to 10 HGV movements per hour (inbound or outbound) then this 
Council requests a planning condition should NNC be minded to grant 
the application.  

• Requested condition:  The number of HGV movements through the new 
access road shall be limited to 10 HGV movements per hour (inbound or 
outbound). Reason - To protect the amenity of the nearby residents at 
Chelston Rise and to ensure the noise mitigations are appropriate to the 
declared HGV hourly traffic volumes.  

• Should the applicant decide in the future that the number of HGV 
movements was likely to exceed this number, a new noise assessment 
would be submitted for the new hourly HGV movements to aid NNC 
determine if additional mitigation measures would become necessary. 

Page 18



This approach would give the applicant certainty in being able to operate 
the new access road, whilst providing a mechanism to mitigate 
increasing noise nuisance on the nearby neighbours should the numbers 
of HGVs increase over time.  

• Requested condition: Once the access road is in use, noise 
measurements will be taken at the site boundary with Chelston Rise at 
the height of the first floor windows so as to verify the actual noise 
emissions. If the noise levels are higher than modelled, additional noise 
mitigations shall be implemented.  Reason - To protect the amenity of 
the nearby residents at Chelston Rise and to ensure the theoretical noise 
modelling is representative of the actual noise.  

• The site boundary is chosen because the planning condition has to be 
on land the applicant controls, but at ground level any measurements 
would be shielded by the bund, whereas the Chelston Rise first floor 
windows will not be, so the measurement device will need to be elevated 
(e.g. pole mounted, scaffold tower) to achieve a true reading. 

  
5.4 Higham Ferrers Town Council (19th May 2022) 

 
The Town Council objects to this application, as follows: 
 
• Noise: Support comments made in Chelveston-cum-Caldecott Parish 

Council response, with particular reference to the proximity to Chelston 
Rise and the impact of noise on the residents.  

• Vehicle Queuing: Concerns about the potential queuing of works 
vehicles on the highway close to a nearby junction and a 90 degree bend 
that will make the likelihood of obstruction to fellow road users very high.  

• Night-time Closure of Access Road to Traffic: Express specific support 
for the part of the Chelveston-cum-Caldecott Parish Council response 
that seeks the closure of the new site access road to all traffic between 
23:00 to 07:00 if permission be granted to minimise the noise impact on 
local residents.  

• Highways Safety: Note and uphold the LHA comments regarding the 
need for a Traffic Regulation Order, signage and a Stage 1 Road Safety 
Audit. 

  
5.5 Further Higham Ferrers Town Council Response (15th June 2023)  

 
The Town Council responded further to this application, as follows: 
 
• The council note the response from Chelveston Parish Council and 

agree with their request and proposed wording for a planning condition 
to control the number of HGV movements and a condition requiring noise 
measurements and associated mitigation once the road is in use. 

  
 Neighbours / Responses to Publicity 
  
5.6 A total of 20 objections have been received from local residents.  The 

objections relate predominantly to potential impacts arising from the 
proposal on the amenity of the Chelston Rise residential estate, adjacent to 
the CEIP site.  The material issues raised are summarised as follows: 
 

Page 19



• Impact of additional traffic on Chelston Rise and Caldecott village. 
• The roads cannot accommodate additional large vehicles. 
• The new access arrangement is not necessary as the existing approved 

access arrangement is fit for purpose. 
• The access point from main adopted highway junction with Rushden 

Road / Bidwell Lane is dangerous, especially if queuing back from the 
proposed new access occurs.  

• The proposed new access is too close to the main highway and is 
therefore dangerous. 

• Noise levels will increase from traffic to the detriment of local residents. 
• Future increased / 24 hour working patterns could further increase noise 

and pollution. 
• The proposed new access location is too close to Chelston Rise housing 

and may have noise and pollution impacts on residents. 
• The approved / constructed landscaped bund is not high enough to be 

effective in mitigating against increased site noise and pollution. 
• Pollution levels will rise through closer proximity of CEIP vehicles, 

especially if queuing / waiting at the gatehouse, to the Chelston Rise 
residential area. 

• The landscaped bund is not as per approved plan therefore is not as 
effective as it should be in screening the CEIP development from 
Chelston Rise. 

• The CEIP building layout should be revised rather than the access. 
• Traffic controls agreed under previous planning permission are not 

workable. 
• Defined footpaths should be installed for safety along the route to 

designated footpaths to reduce conflict between pedestrians and 
vehicles heading to and from the CEIP and CREP. 

• General impact on peace, quiet of rural / semi-rural location. 
• The noise survey does not satisfactorily cover the impacts of the 

proposal, particularly the noise associated with HGVs and other vehicles 
idling and stopping and starting at the gatehouse.  

  
5.7 NNC Local Highway Authority (LHA) (17th May 2022) 

 
In respect of the above planning application, the Local Highway Authority 
(LHA) has the following observations, comments and recommendations: 
 
• The LHA have concerns regarding the 2 x 3-metre-wide lanes leading to 

the existing access as they are not consistent with the proposed 2 x 3.25-
metre-wide lanes for the new access. The narrower width may lead to 
overriding and damage to the verge and carriageway edge. 

• Any HGV restrictions and right turn bans will require a Traffic Regulation 
Order (TRO) which would be subject to consultation and may or may not 
be agreed. The relevant signage will need to be delivered under a 
standard S278 agreement. 

• All signage and lining will be required to clearly indicate priority, as the 
development access will appear to be the main route. 

• The LHA requires that a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit (RSA1) be carried 
out at the access. The RSA brief and auditor CV's should be sent to the 
LHA for approval, prior to the undertaking of the RSA1. 

  
Page 20



5.8 Further NNC LHA Response (21st November 2022)  
 
The LHA’s further response was as follows: 
 
• I can confirm we have now received the Stage 1 Road Safety Audit. This 

has been reviewed and the Highway Authorities Road Safety Audit Team 
is content that the problems raised have been addressed by the 
designers’ responses. 

  
5.9 Further NNC LHA Response (17th June 2023)  

 
The LHA’s further response was as follows: 
 
• The Stage 1 Road Safety Audit has been reviewed and the Highway 

Authorities Road Safety Audit Team is content that the problems raised 
have been addressed by the designers' responses. 

  
5.10 National Highways (16th May 2022)  

 
• The proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact on the operation of 

the Strategic Road Network. National Highways therefore has no 
objection to this application. 

  
5.11 NNC Environmental Protection (26th April 2022)  

 
• Environmental Protection has no comments to make with respect to this 

planning application. 
  
5.12 Further NNC Environmental Protection (8th June 2023) 

 
NNC Environmental Protection’s further response was as follows: 
 
• I have been consulted with respect to noise on this application for the 

relocation of the access road into the innovation centre permitted under 
19/01781/FUL. Further to my earlier comments a traffic noise 
assessment has been submitted to assess any impact on properties in 
Chelston Rise from relocation of the access road. Based on the 
submitted traffic noise assessment there is no objection to the proposed 
development. Noise should not result in adverse impact on nearby 
residential properties. See comments below. 

• The assessment is based on the background (baseline) noise 
measurements from the 2009 survey and are considered to be 
conservative. The survey location is at the rear of Chelston Rise and in 
all likelihood baseline noise levels have increased in the intervening 
years due to the expansion of the CREP. From the survey data it has 
been possible to determine a background noise level for the peak one 
hour AM and PM periods. This is thought to be representative of the bulk 
of traffic flow to the innovation centre. Also peak, maximum noise levels 
have been assessed with particular reference to the night time. 

• From the assessment it is unlikely that noise during the peak one hour 
time periods will result in adverse noise impact. Although no night time 
assessment has been carried out the peak AM hour level just meets the 

Page 21



night time Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level (LOAEL). As such 
noise should not result in adverse impact. 

• Predicted peak, maximum noise levels at the most exposed property are 
no higher than 46.3dB LAmax outside a first floor window. A level of 45dB 
LAmax within bedrooms is the accepted threshold for sleep disturbance. 
Allowing for 10-15dB reduction through a partially open window peak, 
maximum noise levels will be well within this criterion. 

• The noise assessment has taken into account the provision of the 
landscape bund agreed under 19/01781/FUL.  This bund should be in 
place prior to the first use of the relocated access road. 

  
5.13 NNC Nature Development (13th May 2022) 

 
• Nature Development has no comments to make at this time. 

  
5.14 Further NNC Nature Development (13th May 2022)  

 
• Design and Access Statement accompanying this application have been 

reviewed.  There are no objections regarding this application. It is noted 
that the proposal is to upgrade an existing hard ground access track, as 
verified on Google Earth (accessed 16/6/23). 

  
5.15 NNC Principal Regeneration Officer (14th July 2022) 

 
• By enabling this new access route to the employment area of the site it 

will provide a more accessible route for the end users of the units and 
will offer a better entrance and gateway for potential higher end / HQ 
opportunities (sense of arrival).  

• The new access will separate the employee travel route into site from 
existing heavy plant and lorries / including currently East Northants 
recycling lorry movements (NNC).  

• Improved security for the employment area of the site.  In discussion with 
the site owner and agent, it could be argued that as the site is already so 
secure (for the wind turbine and solar arrays feeding into the National 
Grid) they will be attracted to a site that has added layers of security from 
an already secure base (as currently exists). 

• Will clearly define the employment zone of the site. 
• By creating an additional entrance, it will help lessen the chance for pinch 

points to occur at peak travel times (ie queueing traffic at security posts). 
• I note that one potential issue appears to already have been addressed 

on the near side of the site where the terraced rows of occupied houses 
are located - an earth bund has been created from materials elsewhere 
on site and this has already been topped with planting to create a 
screening.  On inspection of the bund it is also a good distance away 
from the proposed access point. 

• In conversation during the site tour with the Site Manager it is clear that 
a lot of thinking and resource has gone into the environmental 
considerations of the site and even though a brownfield site and an ex-
airfield there is established planting (mature oak trees) that have been 
included in the management and retaining of coppices/small woodland 
areas to create an environment that would be conducive to employees 
wellbeing. 

Page 22



  
 National / Regional / Sub-Regional Context: 

   
• Industrial Strategy / Build Back Better is the Government’s publication 

setting out its plans to support economic growth through significant 
investment in infrastructure, skills and innovation. 

• North Northamptonshire represents an integral component of the Oxford-
Cambridge Arc, a designated national growth area that comprises three 
of the most successful and fastest growing cities in the UK. It has been 
identified by Government as a location for transformational growth, and 
the opportunity exists - supported by the right interventions and 
investment - to amplify the Arc's position as a world-leading economic 
place capable of supporting the Government's Industrial Strategy aim to 
boost the productivity and earning power of people across the UK. The 
area already contributes £111bn of GVA to the UK economy per year 
and has the transformative economic potential to contribute nearly 
£200bn by 2050. 

• South East Midlands Industrial Strategy: Following publication of the 
Government's national Industrial Strategy (and more latterly 'Build Back 
better') the South East Midlands Local Enterprise Partnership (SEMLEP) 
produced a Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) covering the South East 
Midlands. 

  
 North Northamptonshire Economic Strengths and Competitive Advantage: 

 
• Strategic location and connectivity: National and international 

connectivity;  location within key growth clusters (including Oxford to 
Cambridge Arc and Midlands Engine); proximity to global assets. 

• Proven growth location: A good place to do business; a thriving 
enterprise culture; supported by land available and space to grow. 

• Strong labour supply: Extensive local labour pool; and access to higher 
level skills, innovation and collaboration opportunities (linked to 
Universities within Oxford to Cambridge Arc).  

• Cost competitive location: Relatively affordable location for businesses 
and residents; and 'More for your money' in North Northamptonshire. 

• Quality of life: Quality of natural environment: and good location for 
employees and their families to live and work. 

  
 Existing Sector Strengths: 

 
• Logistics: North Northamptonshire has a natural geographic advantage: 

the major ports are all within 3 hours and over 95% of the UK's population 
is within a four-hour drive time. 

• Manufacturing: North Northamptonshire has a long manufacturing 
tradition and is now home to a range of innovative and advanced 
manufacturing sectors ranging from materials and components, 
motorsport engineering and food production. 

• Supply Chains: The area also performs a critical role in the supply chains 
for wider industries including those with real growth potential. 

• Construction: North Northamptonshire has nationally significant levels of 
planned growth in terms of housing, commercial space and an expanded 
infrastructure network. 

Page 23



  
 North Northamptonshire Council's Corporate Plan: 

 
• This Plan outlines the following vision, values and key commitments for 

the area. The priorities within the corporate plan that are relevant and 
would support the progress of this application are: Attract tourism, 
visitors and inward investment; and Support the creation of high-quality, 
better skilled jobs. 

  
 Conclusion:  

 
• From an Economic Development and Regeneration perspective I would 

support this proposal for the reasons given in the summary of this 
document. 

 
6. Relevant Planning Policies and Considerations 
 
6.1  Statutory Duty 
  
 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be 

determined in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.   

  
6.2  National Policy 
  
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023)  
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 
 National Design Guide (NDG) (2019) 
  
6.3  North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy (JCS) (2016) 
 
 Policy 1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

Policy 2: Historic Environment 
Policy 3: Landscape Character 

 Policy 4: Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
 Policy 5: Water Environment, Resources and Flood Risk Management 
 Policy 16: Connecting the Network of Settlements 
 Policy 22: Delivering Economic Prosperity 
 Policy 23: Distribution of New Jobs 
 Policy 25: Rural Economic Development and Diversification 
 Policy 26: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 
  
6.4  Emerging East Northamptonshire Local Plan (LPP2) (2021) 
  
 EN1: Spatial Development Strategy 
  
6.5  Chelveston-cum-Caldecott Neighbourhood Plan (2017)  
  
 Policy REN 1: Specific Policy Statements relating to the former Chelveston 

Airfield 
 
 
 

Page 24



7. Evaluation 
 
7.1  Principle of Development 
  
7.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and 

section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, require that 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  This 
is echoed within Paragraph 47 of the NPPF 2023. 

  
7.1.2 The principle of development for the Chelveston Energy Innovation Park 

(CEIP) is established through the approval of planning application 
19/01781/FUL on 30th March 2019 by the former East Northamptonshire 
Council’s Planning Management Committee.  This planning permission has 
been commenced through the implementation of infrastructure, circulation, 
landscaping, drainage works, and the construction of an employment unit.  

  
7.1.3 The current planning application is to provide a different main access route 

into the site to enable future development to be delivered more efficiently. 
The proposed new access route into the CEIP site seeks to separate the 
traffic generated by the CEIP site from the traffic using the existing vehicular 
access route for the existing operational Chelveston Renewable Energy 
Park (CREP site); enable the creation of a better quality ‘business park’ style 
entrance to the CEIP site; whilst also improving the safety of other road and 
PROW users in the vicinity of the CEIP and CREP sites, which would 
constitute a significant public benefit in terms of usability and safety. 

  
7.1.3 It is considered that the proposal complies with Policy 16 of the North 

Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy and also with Policy REN 1 of the 
Chelveston-cum Caldecott Neighbourhood Plan. 

  
7.2  Landscape and Visual Impact 
  
7.2.1  It is considered that the design of the new access route has very limited 

visual impact.  The route enters into the CEIP site from Church Lane and 
proceeds towards the main CEIP development area through relatively flat, 
open ground.  A landscaped bund has already been created to the east of 
the site which, as the planting establishes, will significantly reduce views 
across the site towards the new access route from the rear of the houses on 
Chelston Rise (some 100 metres distant to the east).   There are no other 
significant viewpoints towards the access route from the surrounding 
countryside. 

  
7.2.2 It is considered that the proposal is acceptable and complies with Policy 3 

of the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy.  
  
7.3  Highways Matters 
  
7.3.1 The highways impacts are considered to be acceptable.  The design of the 

new access point and consequent highway improvement measures on the 
Church Lane and Rushden Road / Bidwell Lane adopted highways have 
been subject to a Road Safety Audit and approved by the Local Highway 
Authority.  The off-site highways and junction works can be secured through 

Page 25



a S278 Agreement.  National Highways was consulted on the planning 
application and have no objections. 

  
7.3.2 Objectors raised the potential issue of vehicles entering the CEIP site 

queuing to move past the security gatehouse, and consequently causing 
danger if a queue backed onto the adopted highway.  However, the LHA’s 
Road Safety Audit has cleared the proposed design in this respect. 

  
7.4  Impact on Neighbouring Amenity 
  
7.4.1  The main point of objection from the local residential community and the 

Town and Parish Councils is that the new access route it is located closer 
to the Chelston Rise residential estate than the previously approved main 
access route.  The current approved main access route (via Church Lane 
and the concrete airfield track leading to the CREP site) is some 300 metres 
away from the Chelston Rise properties; whilst the proposed new access 
route is some 100 metres away. 

  
7.4.2 This proposed changed location for the new access route has given rise to 

local concerns that there will be unacceptable noise impacts on Chelston 
Rise caused by the CEIP site traffic using the route on an unrestricted 24 
hours per day basis.  It is contended that this will be exacerbated by vehicles, 
especially HGVs, stopping at the proposed gatehouse with engines idling, 
and then accelerating away to their destination on the CEIP site.  There is 
particular concern that this activity will lead to unacceptable noise all day but 
particularly throughout the night-time – affecting sleep for local residents.  It 
is also contended that this will have a negative impact on air quality in the 
area. 

  
7.4.3 The objectors have suggested that the potential negative impacts could be 

remedied by limiting the use of the new access route between 10:00pm and 
07:00am, with traffic accessing the CEIP site within those restricted hours 
being directed to use the existing approved access.  A planning condition 
has been suggested by Chelveston Parish Council (and supported by 
Higham Ferrers Town Council) to secure this. 

  
7.4.4 In addition to this, the Parish has put forward, and the Town Council has 

supported, a further planning condition to secure the monitoring of actual 
noise impacts from the CEIP site access once it becomes operational, with 
a mechanism to seek further mitigations if noise levels exceed the forecast 
levels. 

  
7.4.5 The Council’s Environmental Protection team has assessed the Noise 

Impact Survey submitted as part of this planning application.  They also 
made the original assessment on the Noise Impact Survey submitted as part 
of the overall CEIP site planning application which was approved in 2019.  
On the basis of their assessment, they have concluded that “Based on the 
submitted traffic noise assessment there is no objection to the proposed 
development.  Noise should not result in adverse impacts on nearby 
residential properties”. 

  
7.4.6 The concerns of the Town and Parish Councils and the local residents at 

Chelston Rise are understood, and the careful thinking behind the 
Page 26



suggested planning conditions for a night-time use restriction of the access 
and monitor actual noise generation following the implementation of the new 
access route is appreciated.  However, the evidence presented by the 
applicant and assessed by the Council’s Environmental Protection team is 
that traffic noise should not result in adverse impacts on nearby residential 
properties. 

  
7.4.7 As a result of this, it is not possible to support the planning conditions 

suggested by the Parish and Town Councils.  The statutory tests for 
planning conditions are that they must be “… necessary, relevant to planning 
and to the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and 
reasonable in all other respects.” (paragraph 56, NPPF 2023).  In this case, 
given the evidence, the suggested planning conditions are not necessary.  
In addition, the suggested planning condition for the night-time use 
restriction of the access would not be reasonable as the CEIP site has 
planning permission for 24 hour operation. 

  
7.4.8 The local concerns about the potential for queuing traffic at the gatehouse 

to have a detrimental impact on air quality are not considered to be valid.  
The design of the access and gate-house arrangements is not intended to 
generate queuing, and this has also been taken into account in the Local 
Highways Authority’s Road Safety Assessment.   

  
7.4.9 It is considered, therefore, that there are no unacceptable impacts on 

neighbouring amenity arising from this planning application. 
  
7.5  Flood Risk and Drainage 
  
7.5.1 The design of the proposed new access route will need incorporate 

sustainable drainage features to ensure that is satisfactorily drained.  Such 
features are able to be accommodated within the adjoining land, and can be 
secured through planning condition.  

  
7.5.2 It is considered that the proposals are able to be satisfactorily drained using 

sustainable drainage systems which can be secured by condition in order to 
comply with North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Policy 5. 

  
7.6  Ecology  
  
7.6.1 The proposals are limited to the construction of a new main access route to 

the CEIP site by widening and improving an existing grassed-over concrete 
access route related to the former military use of the site.  The Council’s 
Nature Development team has no objections to the proposals.   

  
7.6.2 It is considered that the proposals do not have an adverse impact on the 

ecology and biodiversity of the site. 
  
7.7  Heritage and Archaeology 
  
7.7.1 The council is required by section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the listed building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses.  Section 72 (1) of the 

Page 27



Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a duty 
on a decision maker to pay special attention to the need to preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of a conservation area.   

  
7.7.2 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF 2023 states when considering the impact of a 

proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective 
of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less 
than substantial harm to its significance. 

  
7.7.3 The proposal has a neutral impact on heritage assets.  Whilst there are a 

number of heritage assets in and around nearby towns and villages, this 
proposal is located far enough away to cause no harm to the character or 
setting of any Conservation Area, Listed Buildings, or archaeological 
features.    

  
7.7.4 It is considered that the proposal complies with the requirements of the 

NPPF and with Policy 2 of the North Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. 
  
7.8 Planning Conditions 
  
7.8.1 It is considered that planning conditions are required: 

 
• Full Planning Permission Time Limit 
• Development in Accordance with Approved Plans 
• Hours of Work 
• Drainage 
• Highway Details and Improvements 

 
8. Other Matters 
 
8.1  Equality Impacts: It is considered that the proposal subject to this planning 

application has no negative impacts on equality. 
  
8.2  Health Impacts: It is considered that the proposal subject to this application 

will achieve healthy, inclusive and safe communities by enabling safer 
access to the CEIP and CREP sites and also for users of the local PROW 
network therefore it is considered acceptable on health impact grounds.  

 
9. Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 
9.1  The key issues to be weighed in the planning balance are the applicant’s 

wish to create a better and safer access to the approved CEIP site, whilst 
also improving access to the CREP site and to the local PROW network,  
against the concerns of local residents and Town and Parish Councils in 
respect of highways safety, traffic noise, and to an extent air quality.   

  
9.2  It is considered that the proposals are compliant with national and local 

planning policy frameworks.  Given the consultation comments from the 
Local Highways Authority and the Council’s Environmental Protection team 
that highways and traffic noise impacts arising from the proposal are 
acceptable and that no significant increase in additional air pollution is likely 

Page 28



to arise, it is considered that the proposals set out in this planning application 
are acceptable and that planning permission should be granted subject to 
conditions, 

 
10. Recommendation 
 
10.1  That planning permission be GRANTED subject to conditions. 

 
11. Conditions  
 
1 Full Planning Permission Time Limit 

The development hereby permitted begin no later than the expiration of three 
years from the date of this planning permission. 
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the development 
in detail and to comply with Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990, as amended. 

  
2 Development in Accordance with Approved Plans 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
Drawing Numbers: 
• Site Access Proposed Entrance Sheet 1 Aerial View (Drawing Number 

FEL1296-A, 25th May 2021) 
• Site Access Proposed Entrance Sheet 1 Site Plan (Drawing Number 

FEL1296-A, 25th May 2021) 
• Site Access Proposed Entrance Sheet 2 (Drawing Number FEL1296-B, 

25th May 2021) 
• Site Access Proposals (Drawing Number Figure 5.7-F, 20th June 2019) 
• Proposed Gatehouse Floorplan and Elevations (Drawing Number 

FEL1327-A, 31st August 2021) 
 Reason:  To  accord with the terms of the planning application, for the 

avoidance of doubt, and in the interests of good planning. 
  
3 Hours of Work 
 No construction work (including deliveries to or from the site) that causes 

noise to be audible outside the site boundary shall take place on the site 
outside the hours of 0800 and 1800 Mondays to Fridays and 0800 and 1300 
on Saturdays, and at no times on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays unless 
otherwise agreed with the local planning authority.  
Reason: To ensure the protection of the local amenity throughout 
construction works. 

  
4 Drainage 

Prior to the commencement of development, details of the surface water 
drainage scheme for the entirety of the approved new access route and 
junction shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority and shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details before the development is completed. The scheme shall 
include: 1. Details (i.e. designs, diameters, invert and cover levels, gradients, 
dimensions and so on) of all elements of the proposed surface water 
drainage system, to include pipes, inspection chambers, outfalls/inlets and 
attenuation structures (if required). 2. Details of the drainage systems are to 
be accompanied by full and appropriately cross-referenced supporting 
surface water drainage calculations. Surface water drainage calculations 

Page 29



should also include an assessment of a surcharged outfall. 3. Cross-sections 
of the control chambers (including site specific levels mAOD) and 
manufacturers' hydraulic curves should be submitted for all vortex flow 
control and other flow control devices. 4. Full details of the proposed surface 
water outfall location, where this crosses third party land details should be 
provided confirming the acceptability of this with landowner. 5. Operation 
and maintenance details, including the details of the party responsible for 
the ongoing maintenance and operation of the proposed SuDS should be 
made available. 6. Survey details confirming the level detail of the receiving 
watercourse outfall, including bank and bed level.  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory and sustainable drainage of the approved 
new access route and junction. 

  
5 Highway Details and Improvements 

No development shall be commenced until full engineering, street lighting 
and constructional details of the access arrangement in accordance with 
drawing no Figure 5-F dated 20th June 2019 by Lawrence Walker Limited 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The development shall, thereafter, be constructed in accordance 
with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: In the interest of highway safety; to ensure a satisfactory 
appearance to the highways infrastructure serving the approved 
development; and to safeguard the visual amenities of the locality and users 
of the highway. 

 
12. Informatives 
 
1 Fast Broadband - Informative for Major Developments 

 
The North Northamptonshire Joint Core Spatial Strategy 2011-2031 policy 
10 (e), Provision of Infrastructure, encourages developers to provide for 
fast broadband to new buildings (including but not exclusive to housing, 
commercial, retail or leisure) by partnering with a telecommunications 
provider or providing on site infrastructure to enable the premises to be 
directly served – this should be gigabit capable and where possible, full 
fibre connectivity.  This supports the government’s Gigabit programme and 
local targets to see 80% full fibre and 90% gigabit coverage by the end of 
2028.  Developers should approach telecoms providers at the earliest 
opportunity to agree gigabit-ready infrastructure and connectivity plans.  
The network capability delivered by full fibre technology supports the 
fastest broadband speeds available, is considered future proof, and will 
bring a multitude of opportunities, savings and benefits. It may also add 
value to the development and is a major selling point to attract potential 
homebuyers and occupiers, with many people now regarding fast 
broadband as one of the most important considerations.   
 
Efficiencies can be secured if ducting works and other network 
infrastructure is planned early and carried out in co-operation with the 
installations of standard utility works. Any works carried out should be 
compliant with the Manual of Contract Documents for Highway Works- 
specifically Volume 1 Specification Series 500 Drainage and Ducts, and 
Volume 3 Highway Construction Details Section 1 - I Series Underground 

Page 30



Cable Ducts.  These documents can be found at: 
http://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ha/standards/mchw/index.htm.  
 
Streetworks UK Guidelines on the Positioning and Colour Coding of 
Underground Utilities’ Apparatus can be found here National Joint Utilities 
Group (streetworks.org.uk). Proposals should also be compliant with Part 
R, Schedule 1 of the Building Regulations 2010 (soon to be amended to 
strengthen requirements for gigabit connectivity to new dwellings) and the 
Approved Document R. 
 
Some telecoms network providers have dedicated online portals providing 
advice for developers, including: 
 
Openreach Developer Portal (openreach.co.uk) 
Virgin Media http://www.virginmedia.com/lightning/network-
expansion/property-developers    
Gigaclear networkbuildcare@gigaclear.com  (rural areas and some market 
towns 
OFNL (GTC) http://www.ofnl.co.uk/developers   
CityFibre http://cityfibre.com/property-developers  
Details of other fibre network providers operating locally can be found here 
http://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/how-we-are-
delivering/Pages/telecoms-providers.aspx.    
 
For help and advice on broadband connectivity in North Northamptonshire 
email the Superfast Northamptonshire team at 
bigidea.ncc@northnorthants.gov.uk  

 

Page 31

http://www.standardsforhighways.co.uk/ha/standards/mchw/index.htm
http://www.virginmedia.com/lightning/network-expansion/property-developers
http://www.virginmedia.com/lightning/network-expansion/property-developers
mailto:networkbuildcare@gigaclear.com
http://www.ofnl.co.uk/developers
http://cityfibre.com/property-developers
http://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/how-we-are-delivering/Pages/telecoms-providers.aspx
http://www.superfastnorthamptonshire.net/how-we-are-delivering/Pages/telecoms-providers.aspx
mailto:bigidea.ncc@northnorthants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



83
.9

2

84
.7

8

86
.0

6

87
.1

4

87.59

87.40

86
.4

9
87

.1
4

87
.7

4

88
.3

3
88

.4
7

88
.8

4

88
.8

3

88.97

90.50

90.34

90.69

91.29

91.33

91.32

91.47

91.23

90.06

88.68

87.88

86.15
84.81

83.94

88
.53

90.03

87.98

89.33

83
.56

84
.27

86
.42

85.87

87.56
88.89

88.00

87.39
86.61

85.93

89.70

90.23

90
.05

89.80
89.61

89.5488.11

88.98

89.55

83.60

86.36

88.02

89.38

89.86

90.03

89.82

89.50

89.32 89.61

89.31

88.71

87.74

88.12
87.47

85.61

84.27

84.11

84.17

85.69

89.26

90.22

90.52

90.11

87.10

86.31

88.01

89.52

89.52

88.19

89.08

90.49

90.74

91.27

91.27

90.74

89.75

90.37

91.18

91.59

91.37

91.20

90.76

90.28

90.16

90.24

90.20

91.32

91.52

91.79

92.27

91.76

Tree Height
Average 8.0m

Tree Height
Average 12.0m

Tree Height
Average 7.0m

Tree Height
Average 7.0m

Tree Height
Average 11.0m

Tree Height
Average 9.0m

Tree Height
Average 8.0m

Tree Height
Average 8.0m

Tree Height
Average 13.0m

Tree Height
Average 9.0m

Tree Height
Average 16.0m

Tree Height
Average 16.0m

Boundary taken from
Ordnance Survey

SP9967
267600N

267700N

267800N

267900N

268000N

268100N

268200N

268300N

81.9m
Sinks

89.9m

C
H

EL
VE

ST
O

N
 B

AS
E 

C
R

ES
C

EN
T

88.9m

Garrett Spinney

736a

73
7d

74
5d

744d

736d

744

74
5a

4000

a

Cattle Grid

Camp
(disused)

Garrett Spinney

85.6m

701a

707d 72
3c

72
9d

73
7b

78.6m

Chelveston American
Dependants School Playground

704a

CHELVESTON BASE CRESCENT

728

714c

728a

714a

720a

720d

710b

710a

708

704b

73
7a

72
9a

72
3a

715d

715a

707a

701c

40003300 c

Playground

Drain

Boiler
House

Eu
ro

 C
on

st 
an

d 
Co

 C
on

st 
Bd

y

Un
d

1082

TL0067
Un

d

EE
R 

& 
Co

 C
on

st 
Bd

y

Hare
Spinney

Mast

Hare Spinney

Sewage Tanks

Cattle Grid

Issues

1082

Federal Estates Ltd.

ISSUE DESCRIPTION BY DATE APPR

A RED LINE TO PHASE ONE BOUNDARY AB 25.08.21 AB

B TO MATCH NMA DRAWING AB 04.02.21 RT

C OS UNDERLAY AB 24.02.22 RT

Application Area

Ownership Area

NOTE:

DRAWING BASED ON 2019/2020 TOPOGRAPHIC DATA AND OS
MAPPING.

CONTAINS ORDINANCE SURVEY DATA © CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND DATABASE RIGHT 2021

ORDINANCE SURVEY LICENCE 100048957

P
age 33

A
ppendix 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Scale:

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Date:

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Drawn:

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Checked:

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
North

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Project:

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Drawing:

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
@ A1

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
-

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Drawing No:

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Key:

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
Chelveston Energy Innovation Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Site Access

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
Proposed Entrace

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
FEL1296

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
1:1250

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
25.05.21

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
A. Black

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
RT

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
B

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
Chelveston Renewable Energy Park

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
Sheet 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 18 October 2023
	4 Application Number NE/22/00234/FUL - Chelveston Energy Innovation Park
	Location plan


